### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The appellant, Sheryl Stevison, filed this Brief to urge the Circuit Court to reverse the order of the Board of Trustees of the Public Employees' Retirement System of Mississippi (hereafter "PERS") entered August 26, 2003 which adopted the recommendations of the PERS Disability Appeals Committee which found:

"These cases are always difficult, but the statute is clear that objective evidence is what is required to prove disability in this forum. We have considered the opinions of the two physicians stating that Ms. Stevison is disabled, and maybe she is for Social Security purposes, but she does not have objective proof in the file that a disability exists." (R 24, RE 74, Tab 12).

П.

### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. The decision of PERS' denying Stevison's disability retirement is not supported by substantial evidence because her disability is supported by reports of her treating physicians which are uncontradicted since PERS did not order a medical exam.
- 2. Alternatively, the decision of PERS should be reversed and remanded for PERS to obtain a psychiatric report due to PERS' failure order a psychiatric evaluation and to obtain and review any psychiatric records obtained in Stevison's Social Security case and obtain all medical records.

### Ш.

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Sheryl Stevison was employed as a teacher assistant for the Wayne County School District for 11.5 years. (R 69, RE 30. Tab 11). After suffering numerous health problems and missing 43.5 days during the 2001-2002 school year, Stevison applied for non duty related disability with PERS on August 26. 2002 after her last day of July 31, 2002. (R 72, RE 1, Tab 1). On the same day, school district business manager Doug Everitt certified that Stevison could not perform her job and had not been offered another job within the agency. (R 78-79, RE 4-5, Tab 2).

On January 18, 2002, Hattiesburg rheumatologist Dr. Beverly Myers saw Stevison upon referral from Dr. John Beaman and it was her impression she had left sciatica of undetermined etiology or possibly a nerve irritated intrapelvically. (R 214, RE 14, Tab 4).

On February 4, 2002, Stevison reported to Hattiesburg gynecologist Dr. John Holland she had back pain beginning three years ago but it worsened on September 14. 2001 when she picked up something and the pain got worse. (R 207, RE 9, Tab 3). Dr. Holland recommended pain management since she was unable to work, bend, or stoop. (R 207, RE 9, Tab 3).

On February 28, 2002, Hattiesburg rheumatologist Dr. David I. Weiss found Stevison to have left hip pain with possible radicular component with prominent left trochanteric bursitis. (R 198, RE 16, Tab 5). Dr. Weiss saw Stevison again on March 25, 2002, where he noted she had only transient improvement after physical therapy and found her to have "chronic low back/sacroiliac pain of unclear etiology. Low titer ANA without features of a connective tissue disease." (R 194). Stevison was given corticosteroids and given procedure for pain and discussed trial of NSAID therapy with Vioxx.

On August 23, 2002, Dr. Robert Daggett, on referral from treating family physician, Dr.

Tynes, found Stevison to have Sjogren's syndrome and muscle spasm of the piriformis muscle and was given a exercise program and muscle relaxant. (R 108). After returning on September 10, 2002, Daggett found her to have pain in the her joints, wrist and ankles and describes her pain as flu type symptoms with achiness all over. (R 109).

On October 7, 2002, family practitioner Dr. M. S. Tynes indicated on PERS form "Statement of Examining Physician" that Stevison had Sjogren's syndrome, fibromyalgia, piriformis syndrome with depression, with poor prognosis and had restrictions of "minimal physical activity". (R 203, Re 18, Tab 6).

On January 30, 2003, Dr. Tynes reported that Stevison has "Piriformis Syndrome with apparently permanent damage, fibromyalgia, Sjogren's Syndrome and osteoarthritis quite concerning from recent bone scan was "unable to do minimal walking and standing." Tynes added "I don't see how she would be able to perform this duty [teacher's assistant] due to her pain and fatigue plus her depression is also significant." (R 68, RE 29, Tab 10).

On March 13, 2003, HealthSouth Gulfport reported Stevison's Functional Capacity

Evaluation results stating Stevison reported pain from 6 to 9 on a 10 scale and that she reported severe pain while performing the test while giving consistent effort but was limited to light work. The evaluation reported that Stevison had "tenderness, palpable spasm and multiple trigger points palpable throughout the suboccipital region, cervical paraspinals, upper trapezius muscles, rhomboids, gluteals, piriformis muscles, and lumbar paraspinal muscles." Further, the report indicated Stevison had "pain in all planes of cervical, lumbar, shoulder, elbow, wrist, hand, hip, knee, and ankle range of motion." (R 96, RE 22, Tab 7).

On April 4, 2003, Stevison was informed by letter from then PERS Executive Director Frank Ready that the PERS Medical Board had found "insufficient objective evidence" to support her application for disability retirement. (R 241, RE 26, Tab 8).

On April 23, 2003, Stevison filed her Notice of Appeal for a hearing before the PERS

Disability Appeals Committee. (R 65-66, RE 27-28, Tab 9).

Stevison was afforded a hearing before the PERS Disability Appeals Committee consisting of Sheila Jones, presiding, and Drs. William Nicholas and David Duddleston. (R 27-62, RE 31-66, Tab 11).

At her hearing, Stevison, who was not represented by counsel, testified that she worked as a teacher's assistant for eleven (11) years doing anything requested such as assisting with children, decorating bulletin boards, floats, running copies and planning kindergarten graduation. She testified on September 14, 2001 she came to school hurting in her lower back and hips and the pain got worse and after going to 15 or 16 physicians it was found she had Piriformis Syndrome and also Sjogren's Syndrome. (R 6-8, RE 32-34, Tab 11).

Under questioning by Dr. Duddleston, Stevison stated she subsequently did not sleep well and with the pain and lack of sleep she just could not do her job. (R 35-36, RE 39-40, Tab 11). She stated the Piriformis Syndrome prevented her from sitting or standing for long periods of time and that it involves pain like a "lightening strike." She stated her principal would not agree to give her less duties since "you had to do what you had to do." (R 39, RE 43, Tab 11). Stevison stated she had tried antidepressants such as Paxil, Celexa, and Lexapro, and also pain medication such as Lortab. (R 41-42, RE 45-46, Tab 11).

Stevison testified in response to Dr. Nicholas that her pain was real and that she was doing the best she could and if she could work she would be at the schoolhouse working. Stevison added that the Functional Capacity Evaluation order by PERS "liked to have killed me to go through everything they asked me to do" and that she was "laid up for three days." She added that her pain was all over her body, that she could not open a Coke bottle at home and the pain felt like "somebody has...shattered everything..." (R 52-54. RE 586-58, Tab 11).

Mary Ann Walker testified that she was a teacher and Stevison was her assistant and that the past year was a hard year for Stevison and that although she made accommodations for her there were times when "she just was not able to cope." She stated Stevison loved her job, did anything requested, was very dedicated, and kept her room organized and was a leader and would be back with her if she "was physically able to do so." (R 58-61, RE 63-65, Tab 11).

On June 30, 2003, the PERS Disability Appeals Committee recommended denial of Stevison's application for disability retirement stating Stevison "should have been "evaluated for psychiatric care" and that "we were not provided the records from [other ten] other physicians" and that "Ms. Stevison's physicians were acting as advocates for their patient... but the proof for disability in this case is measured objectively and the record is void of same." The PERS Board of Trustees adopted such recommendation on August 26, 2003. (R 16, Re 76, Tab 12).

Stevison timely appealed to Circuit Court on September 22, 2003 and the Circuit Court affirmed the ruling of PERS on April 10, 2006. (R 9, RE 80, Tab 13).

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The decision of PERS' denying Stevison's application for disability retirement is not supported by substantial evidence since two of her treating physicians gave opinions she was disabled, the Functional Capacity Evaluation report indicated Stevison suffered pain, and no examination was obtained by PERS indicating otherwise, thus no evidence exists in the record to uphold their decision.

Alternatively, PERS' decision should be reversed and remanded because they admitted they did not obtain all of her medical records and they admitted that Stevison "should have been "evaluated for psychiatric care" and that "we were not provided the records from [other ten] other physicians". A reading of the administrative law judge's decision in Stevison's Social Security disability case would reveal reports from two psychiatrists yet PERS chose not to use its statutory authority to obtain a psychiatric examination or all medical records.

#### IV.

#### ARGUMENT

1. The decision of PERS' denying Stevison's disability retirement is not supported by substantial evidence because her disability is supported by reports of her treating physicians which are uncontradicted since PERS did not order a medical exam.

The legal requirement of proving PERS disability is stated at Miss. Code Ann. 25-11-113(1)(a) which states:

"...any active member in state service who has at least four (4) years of membership service credit may be retired by the Board of Trustees... provided the Medical Board, after medical examination shall certify that the member is mentally or physically incapacitated for the further performance of duty, that such incapacity is likely to be permanent, and that the member shall be retired."

Disability is defined in the same code section as the following:

"...the inability to perform the usual duties of employment or the incapacity to perform such lesser duties, if any, as the employer, in its discretion, may assign without material reduction in compensation, or the incapacity to perform the duties of any employment covered by the Public Employees' Retirement System (Section 25-11-101 et seq.) that is actually offered and is within the same general territorial work area, without material reduction in compensation."

Thus, Stevison only had to prove she had four years of service (which she met with 11.5 years of service) and that she was unable to perform her job as a teacher's assistant.

Stevison would contend that a review of the record will show that the objective opinions by Stevison's treating physicians clearly show she was disabled from her job. Additionally, the FCE ordered by PERS clearly showed that Stevison was suffering great pain.

First, Dr. M. S. Tynes on October 7, 2002, indicated on PERS form "Statement of Examining Physician" that Stevison had Sjogren's syndrome, fibromyalgia, piriformis syndrome

with depression, with poor prognosis and had restrictions of "minimal physical activity". (R 203, Re 18, Tab 6).

Dr. Tynes on January 30, 2003 again reported that Stevison has "Piriformis Syndrome with apparently permanent damage, fibromyalgia, Sjogren's Syndrome and osteoarthritis from a recent bone scan showed Stevison was "unable to do minimal walking and standing." Tynes added "I don't see how she would be able to perform this duty [teacher's assistant] due to her pain and fatigue plus her depression is also significant." (R 68, RE 29, Tab 10).

HealthSouth Gulfport reported Stevison's Functional Capacity Evaluation results stating Stevison reported pain from 6 to 9 on a 10 scale and that she reported severe pain while performing the test while giving consistent effort and was limited to light work. The evaluation reported that Stevison had "tenderness, palpable spasm and multiple trigger points palpable throughout the suboccipital region, cervical paraspinals, upper trapezius muscles, rhomboids, gluteals, piriformis muscles, and lumbar paraspinal muscles." Further, the report indicated Stevison had "pain in all planes of cervical, lumbar, shoulder, elbow, wrist, hand, hip, knee, and ankle range of motion." (R 96, RE 22, Tab 7).

Additionally, Stevison's treatment records show Hattiesburg rheumatologist Dr. Beverly Myers determined Stevison to have left sciatica of undetermined etiology or possibly a nerve irritated intrapelvically. (R 214, RE 14, Tab 4). Hattiesburg gynecologist Dr. John Holland found Stevison to have back pain beginning three years ago and recommended pain management since she was unable to work, bend, or stoop. (R 207, RE 9, Tab 3).

Hattiesburg rheumatologist Dr. David I. Weiss found Stevison to have left hip pain with possible radicular component with prominent left trochanteric bursitis. (R 198, RE 16, Tab 5) and further found her to have "chronic low back/sacroiliac pain of unclear etiology. Low titer ANA without features of a connective tissue disease." (R 194).

Meridian rheumatologist Dr. Robert Daggett found Stevison to have Sjogren's syndrome

and muscle spasm of the piriformis muscle and was given a exercise program and muscle relaxant. (R 108). After returning on September 10, 2002, Daggett found her to have pain in her joints, wrist and ankles and describes her pain as flu type symptoms with achiness all over. (R 109).

Further, the law is clear in Mississippi that the decision of an administrative agency must be undisturbed unless it is (1) not supported by substantial evidence, (2) is arbitrary and capricious, (3) is beyond the scope or power granted to the agency, (4) violates one's constitutional rights. *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Marquez*, 774 So. 2d 421 (Miss. 2001); *Fulce v. Public Employees' Retirement System*, 759 So. 2d 401, 404 (Miss. 2000); *Davis v. Public Employees' Retirement System*, 750 So. 2d 1225, 1229 (Miss. 1999).

Substantial evidence is "relevant evidence as reasonable minds might accept as adequate to support a conclusion. *Marquez, supra*.

However, regardless of the foregoing PERS denied Stevison's application for disability retirement, stating:

"These cases are always difficult, but the statute is clear that objective evidence is what is required to prove disability in this forum. We have considered the opinions of the two physicians stating that Ms. Stevison is disabled, and maybe she is for Social Security purposes,' but she does not have objective proof in the file that a disability exists. In this forum, disability must be established by objective proof of same. This Committee has made a diligent search of this record looking for evidence to support Ms. Stevison's claim of disability and it is just not here. We have to assume that Ms. Stevison's physicians were acting as advocates for their patient and there is certainly nothing wrong with that, but the proof for disability is (sic) this case is measured objectively and the record is void of same." (R 24, RE 74, Tab 12).

However, Stevison would argue that PERS has clearly failed to follow numerous decisions that state that disability cannot be denied in the face of the opinions of numerous treating physicians, particularly when PERS has failed to employ an independent medical examiner as it

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> 42 United States Code 423(d) defines disability for Social Security disability as "(A) inability to engage in any substantial gainful activity by reason of any medically determinable impairment which can be expected to result in death or which has lasted or can be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than 12 months..."

did in Stevison's case.

In Marquez, supra, like Dishmon here, the Mississippi Supreme Court noted that

"PERS put forth no controverting evidence in the face of various diagnoses made by various credible doctors. When medical evidence and testimony given by Marquez is contrasted with PERS' rationale for denial of benefits, the evidence supporting PERS' decision to deny benefits appears insubstantial." 74 So. 2d 421 at 429.

Further, the Mississippi Court of Appeals in *Public Employees' Retirement System v*.

Ocenious Thomas, 809 So. 2d 690 (Miss. App. 2001) announced PERS was not entitled to reject evidence when no "contrary view of that evidence was offered", stating:

"It is the view of this Court that there is a lack of substantial evidence to support PERS' decision. While PERS was entitled to be skeptical of Thomas' testimony or even differ with Dr. Crump's conclusion that Thomas is disabled, we find nothing in the record disputing or contradicting the evidence presented by Thomas. Therefore, we cannot find the substantial evidence upon which PERS could have relied. PERS would have been entitled to choose between different pieces of evidence or competing views on the same piece of evidence. However, it was not entitled to reject the only evidence presented when no contrary view of that evidence was offered, unless the offered evidence is so absurd or unbelievable that no reasonable person could believe it. " (at 696).

More recently, the Supreme Court on April 3, 2003 in *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Elsie Dearman*, 846 So. 2d 1014 (Miss. 2003) held:

"PERS cannot choose to ignore the only evidence in the record from the examining physician, especially where it chose not to exercise its right to an independent evaluation under Miss. Code Ann. 25-11-113(1)(c)(Rev. 1999)."

The Court of Appeals later that year on December 2, 2003 in *Cauthen v. PERS*, 860 So. 2d 829 (Miss. App. 2003) noted such precedent stating:

"Based on the fact that this Court is bound by the precedent of these decisions, we look to them for direction in identifying and dealing with the pivotal issues upon which this case must be decided. The cases are *PERS v. Dearman*, 846 So. 2d 1014 (Miss. 2003), and *PERS v. Marquez*, 774 So.2d 421 (Miss. 2000).

Then on January 6, 2004, the Court of Appeals in *PERS v. Finklea*, 862 So. 2d 569 (Miss.App.2004) stated:

"While PERS may choose between contradictory medical evidence and may reject evidence it finds deficient, PERS may not, without explanation, deny disability benefits when faced with apparently substantial, objective medical evidence of disability."

Shortly thereafter, the Court of Appeals on July 24, 2004 in *PERS v. Kellum*, 878 So. 2d 1044 (Miss. App. 2004) relying on the Supreme Court's latest pronouncement in *Dearman*, *supra*, stated:

In affirming the decision of the circuit court, this Court is informed by the cases of *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Dearman*, 846 So. 2d 1014 (Miss. 2003) and *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Marquez*, 774 So. 2d 421 (Miss. 2000). See also Cauthen v. Pub. Employees; Ret. Sys., 860 So.2d 829 (Miss. App. 2003).

In Marquez, the claimant suffered from multiple illnesses including fibromyalgia and chronic fatigue syndrome. Marquez, 774 So. 2d at 423. PERS found that there was insufficient objective medical evidence that Marquez's medical problems rendered her permanently disabled from her job as a school teacher. Id. at 428-29. Marquez submitted medical records tending to confirm her health problems. Id. at 427. The supreme court observed that medical records are considered objective, not subjective, evidence of disability. Id. at 427. The supreme court found that PERS's conclusion was not substantiated by the record because PERS did not adequately explain why it rejected the objective medical evidence of Marquez's disability. Id. at 429.

In *Dearman*, the court more clearly articulated that medical evidence of disability provided by an examining physician is objective evidence that must be afforded elevated respect by PERS. *Dearman*, 846 So. at 1018. Dearman claimed that various health conditions rendered her disabled from her job as a teacher. *Id.* at 1016. Dearman's

treating physician found her permanently disabled as a result of her medical condition and recommended she cease work. *Id.* at 1015. PERS found that Dearman had failed to prove disability. *Id.* at 1016. The supreme court found that the PERS's order was not supported by substantial evidence because the record was "devoid of any evidence that Dearman was not disabled." *Id.* at 1018. The court stated that the opinions of the physicians on the Medical Board and the Disability Appeals Committee are not conclusive, and that "PERS cannot choose to ignore the only evidence in the record from the examining physician, especially where it chose not to exercise its right to an independent medical evaluation under Miss. Code Ann. 25-11-113(1)(c)." *Id.*

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