IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

SHERYL STEVISON

APPELLANT

VERSUS

CAUSE NO. 2006-CC-00841

APPELLEE

PUBLIC EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM OF MISSISSIPPI (PERS)

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

Mary Margaret Bowers Special Assistant Attorney General Public Employees' Retirement System 429 Mississippi Street Jackson, Mississippi 39201-1005 Telephone: (601) 359-3592 (601) 359-3680 Fax. No. (601) 359-2285 Mississippi Bar No.

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Order of the PERS Board of Trustees, as noted by the Circuit Court, is supported by substantial evidence. In order to qualify for a disability benefit under PERS law, Ms. Stevison would have to prove that her disability was the basis for her termination from employment. The record clearly supports the Order of the PERS Board of Trustees, which took into consideration all of the medical evidence offered by Ms. Stevison. The medical evidence, or lack thereof, offered in support of her claim, as reviewed by the Disability Appeals Committee, clearly does not establish that Ms. Stevison meets the eligibility requirement for a disability benefit from the State of Mississippi. Further, Ms. Stevison based her claim for disability on severe pain from arthritis, thus, an FCE was requested to determine her physical capabilities. This case should not be remanded as there is no requirement that the State secure additional evaluations to determine whether the member is disabled. The burden is on the member to prove he/she is in fact disabled as defined in Miss Code Ann. Section 25-11-113 (Rev. 2006). Based on the evidence provided by Ms. Stevison, the PERS decision to deny disability was based on substantial evidence.

This case should not be remanded in order to obtain the determination from the Social Security Administration. There is no requirement that PERS accept a determination from the Social Security Administration. The decision of the Circuit Court

affirming the decision of the Board of Trustees should be upheld. Ms. Stevison was provided a fair and impartial hearing. The Order of the PERS Board of Trustees is premised on substantial evidence and is neither arbitrary nor capricious, and was entered within the Board's authority. Based on the evidence introduced in the record, it is clear that the only decision the Board could make is that Ms. Stevison does not meet the requirements for disability under PERS law. The recommendation of the Disability Appeals Committee, adopted by Order of the PERS Board, and upheld by the Circuit Court in its Opinion and Order should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

INTRODUCTION

PERS was established in 1953 to provide retirement and other benefits to covered employees of the state, its political subdivisions and instrumentalities. Chapter 299, Mississippi Laws of 1952.

In addition to service retirement benefits, disability benefits are provided for members who meet the statutory requirements for such benefits. There are two (2) categories of disability benefits available to PERS members: (1) a regular disability benefit payable to members who have at least four (4) years of creditable service and who become disabled for any reason, and (2) a hurt-on-the-job disability benefit, payable to members regardless of the number of years of creditable service, where the member becomes disabled due to an injury occurring in the line of duty. Miss. Code Ann. Sections 25-11-113 and 25-11-114 (Rev. 2006).

Applications for disability benefits are reviewed by the PERS Medical Board, which reviews and passes upon all medical examinations for disability purposes. The PERS Medical Board is composed of physicians appointed by the PERS Board of Trustees. See: Miss. Code Ann. Section 25-11-119(7) (Rev. 2006) Any person aggrieved by a determination of the PERS Medical Board may request a hearing before the designated hearing officer of the PERS Board of Trustees, pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. Section 25-11-120 (Rev. 2006).

Disability, as defined under PERS law, Miss. Code Ann. Section 25-11-113, states in pertinent part:

... the inability to perform the usual duties of employment or the incapacity to perform such lesser duties, if any, as the employer, in its discretion, may assign without material reduction in compensation or the incapacity to perform the duties of any employment covered by the Public Employees' Retirement System (Section 25-11-101 et seq.) that is actually offered and is within the same general territorial work area, without material reduction in compensation.

Section 25-11-113 further provides that:

... in no event shall the disability retirement allowance commence before the termination of state service, provided that the medical board, after a medical examination, shall certify that the member is mentally or physically incapacitated for the further performance of duty, that such incapacity is likely to be permanent, and that the member should be retired ...

The question before the PERS Medical Board and the PERS Board of Trustees was whether Ms. Stevison's claim meets the statutory requirement for the receipt of a disability benefit. The PERS Board of Trustees concluded that the recommendation of the Disability Appeals Committee to deny disability benefits should be adopted as the decision of the Board. The Circuit Court determined that the decision of the Board is supported by substantial evidence, and, thus, affirmed the denial of disability benefits to Ms. Stevison.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Rule 5.03 of the Uniform Rules of Circuit Court Practice limits review by this Court to a determination of whether the Board of Trustees' decision was: (1) supported by substantial evidence; or (2) was arbitrary or capricious; or (3) was beyond the authority of the Board to make; or (4) violated a statutory or constitutional right of Ms. Stevison. *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Howard*, 905 So. 2d 1279, 1284 (Miss. 2005); *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Stamps*, 898 So. 2d 664, 673 (Miss. 2005); *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Stamps*, 898 So. 2d 348, 351 (Miss. App. 2004); *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Smith*, 880 So. 2d 348, 351 (Miss. App. 2004); *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Henderson*, 867 So. 2d 262, 264 (Miss. App. 2003); *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Dishmon*, 797 So. 2d 888, 891 (Miss. 2001); *Byrd v. Public Employees' Retirement System*, 774 So. 2d 434, 437(Miss. 2000); *Brinston v. Public Employees' Retirement System*, 706 So. 2d 258, 259 (Miss. 1998)

A reviewing Court may not substitute its judgment for that of the agency rendering the decision and may not reweigh the facts. *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Howard*, 905 So. 2d at 1285; *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Stamps*, 898 So. 2d at 673; *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Smith*, 880 So. 2d at 351; *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Dishmon*, 797 So. 2d at 891; *United*

Cement Company v. Safe Air for the Environment, 558 So. 2d 840, 842 (Miss. 1990);

Melody Manor Convalescent Center v. Mississippi State Department of Health, 546 So.

2d 972, 974 (Miss. 1989) Also see: Public Employees' Retirement System v. Burt, 919

So. 2d 1150, 1156 (Miss. App. 2005.) In Mississippi State Tax Commission v.

Mississippi-Alabama State Fair, 222 So. 2d 664, 665 (Miss. 1969), this Court stated:

Our Constitution does not permit the judiciary of this state to retry de novo matters on appeal from administrative agencies and are not permitted to make administrative decisions and perform the functions of an administrative agency. Administrative agencies must perform the functions required of them by law. When an administrative agency has performed its function, and has made the determination and entered the order required of it, the parties may then appeal to the judicial tribunal designated to hear the appeal. The appeal is a limited one, however, since the courts cannot enter the field of the administrative agency.

In Public Employees' Retirement System v. Cobb, 839 So. 2d 605, 609 (Miss.

App., 2003) the Mississippi Court of Appeals noted: "[I]n administrative matters, the agency, not the reviewing court, sits as finder of fact." The Circuit Court obviously recognized that it is the agency that sits as finder of fact. In this case there are medical tests and evaluations that Ms. Stevison has undergone. Several different physicians have reviewed the reports in the file with the medical training to read and assess those documents. The Court in *Cobb* went on to state: "That fact finding duty includes assessing the credibility of witnesses and determining the proper weight to give to a particular witness's testimony." On review by an appellate court it:

is obligated to afford such determinations of credibility in the factfinding process *substantial deference* when reviewing an administrative determination on appeal and the **court exceeds its authority when it proceeds to re-evaluate the evidence and**

makes its own determination of the trustworthiness of some particular testimony. (*Emphasis added*) 839 So. 2d 609

In Public Employees' Retirement System v. Howard, 905 So. 2d at 1287, this Court reiterated that "it is for PERS, as the fact finder, to determine which evidence is more believable or carries the most weight." The findings of fact by the PERS Board of Trustees must not be disturbed on appeal, "where sustained by substantial evidence." City of Meridian v. Davidson, 211 Miss. 683, 53 So. 2d 48, 57 (1951); Harris v. Canton Separate Public School Board of Education, 655 So. 2d 898 (Miss. 1995) As stated by this Court in *Davidson* "[t]he underlying and salient reasons for this safe and sane rule need not be repeated here." 53 So. 2d at 57. Moreover, a rebuttable presumption exists in favor of PERS' decision, and the burden of proving to the contrary is on Ms. Stevison. Public Employees' Retirement System v. Howard, 905 So. 2d at 1284; Public Employees' Retirement System v. Dishmon, 797 So. 2d at 891; Brinston v. Public Employees' Retirement System, 706 So. 2d at 259; Mississippi State Board of Accountancy v. Gray, 674 So. 2d 1251, 1257 (Miss. 1996); Mississippi Commission on Environmental Quality v. Chickasaw County Board of Supervisors, 621 So. 2d 1211, 1215 (Miss. 1993) Also see: Mississippi Hospital Association v. Heckler, 701 F.2d 511, 516 (5th Cir. 1983). In Gray, this Court held:

> A reviewing court cannot substitute its judgment for that of the agency or reweigh the facts of the case. Chancery and Circuit Courts are held to the same standard as this Court when reviewing agency decisions. When we find the lower court has exceeded its authority in overturning an agency decision we will reverse and reinstate the decision. 674 So. 2d at 1253

Also see Public Employees Retirement System v. Stamps, 898 So. 2d at 673.

In Public Employees' Retirement System v. Dishmon, 797 So. 2d at 893, this Court stated that "the applicant for disability has the burden of providing to the Medical Board and to the Appeals Committee that he or she is in fact disabled". This certainly contradicts Ms. Stevison's position that PERS should have sought an independent medical and/or psychiatric evaluation. Clearly, Stevison, not PERS at the administrative level, had the burden of proving that she is indeed disabled. In Public Employees' Retirement System v. Henderson, 867 So. 2d 262, 264 (Miss. App. 2003), the Court citing Doyle v. Public Employees' Retirement System, 808 So. 2d 902, 905 (Miss. 2002) noted: "It is not this courts job to determine whether the claimant has presented enough evidence to prove she is disabled, but whether PERS has presented enough evidence to support its finding that the claimant is not disabled." Also See: Public Employees' Retirement System v. Burt, 919 So. 2d at 1156. The Circuit Court is correct in its determination that PERS finding is based on substantial evidence.

The Order of the PERS Board of Trustees was supported by substantial evidence, was neither arbitrary nor capricious nor violated any statutory or constitutional right of Ms. Stevison and, thus, the Opinion and Order of the Circuit Court entered April 10, 2006, must be affirmed.

I.

THE ORDER OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE PUBLIC EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM DENYING MS. STEVISON'S CLAIM FOR DISABILITY IS SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE AND IS NEITHER ARBITRARY NOR CAPRICIOUS.

"Unless PERS' order was not supported by substantial evidence, or was arbitrary or capricious, the reviewing court should not disturb its conclusions." *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Howard*, 905 So. 2d at 1284. This Court has defined arbitrary and capricious stating that "an administrative agency's decision is arbitrary when it is not done according to reason and judgment, but depending on the will alone." *Mississippi State Department of Health v. Natchez Community Hospital*, 743 So. 2d 973, 977 (Miss. 1999). "An action is capricious if done without reason, in a whimsical manner, implying either a lack of understanding of or disregard for the surrounding facts and settled controlling principles." Id. The record supports PERS' finding, thus, the action of the PERS Board of Trustees is neither arbitrary nor capricious.

Upon close reading of the record before this Honorable Court, it is evident that the decision of the PERS Board of Trustees is based upon substantial evidence. Substantial evidence has been defined as evidence which affords an adequate basis of fact from which the fact at issue can be reasonably inferred. *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Howard*, 905 So. 2d at 1285; *Johnston v. Public Employees' Retirement System*, 827 So. 2d 1,3 (Miss. App. 2002) *Davis v. Public Employees' Retirement System*, 750 So. 2d 1225, 1233 (Miss. 1999). Also see: *Brakefield vs. Public Employees' Retirement System* 940 So. 2d 945, 948 (Miss. App. 2006) The facts, as presented in the record before this Court, support the decision of the PERS Board of Trustees that Ms. Stevison is not entitled to the receipt of a disability benefit pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. Section 25-11-113.

There is substantial evidence to support the Board's decision, and its actions are neither arbitrary nor capricious. The Board has the authority to make a decision relative

to disability, and it did so within the confines of the laws of Mississippi and PERS Regulations.

This Court has further defined substantial evidence as evidence that is "more than a scintilla; it must do more than create a suspicion, especially where the proof must show bad faith." *Mississippi State Board of Examiners for Social Workers and Marriage and Family Therapists v. Anderson*, 757 So. 2d 1079, 1086 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000) (*quoting Mississippi Real Estate Commission v. Ryan*, 248 So. 2d 790, 794 (Miss. 1971) (citing 2 Am. Jur. 2d Administrative Law § 688 (1962)). Also see, *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Howard*, 905 So. 2d at 1285. This Court, after reviewing the record, including the findings of the Disability Appeals Committee, and, its thorough analysis of the medical documentation and testimony offered at hearing will see that there is "more than a scintilla" of evidence to support PERS' decision to deny disability benefits as was recognized by the Circuit Court.

In *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Cobb*, 839 So. 2d at 609-610 the Mississippi Court of Appeals stated:

The requirement of "substantial evidence" seems satisfied, however, in such instance by an appellate determination that the agency's conclusion that the claimant's evidence was so lacking or so unpersuasive that she failed to meet her burden appears a reasoned and unbiased evaluation of the evidence in the record. In that circumstance, in something of a paradox, the lack of evidence at the agency level becomes the substantial evidence on appellate review that suggests the necessity of affirming the agency's determination. [Emphasis added]

Ms. Stevison contends that the proof is insufficient to support PERS' conclusion as there are no reports that contradict the reports of her treating physicians. The Disability Appeals Committee recognized the complaints Ms. Stevison testified to at the hearing.

The Committee in its Statement of Facts noted the following:

Ms. Stevison testified that on September 19, 2001, she came to school with pain in her left leg. The day before, she had carried many heavy textbooks. She waited until the following Monday and then she went to the chiropractor. She testified that she did not get any relief so she began to seek out a doctor to help her...... She testified that she did go to physical therapy for two months but it did not help and that the therapist told her she needed to see another doctor and look for another diagnosis. She saw 15 to 16 doctors and finally Dr. Daggett diagnosed her with Piriforms Syndrome......

Ms. Stevison told this Committee that Dr. Daggett treated her with muscle relaxers, pain medication and stretches.....

Ms. Stevison has never slept well.....

.....Ms. Stevison testified that her assistant principal did not believe that she was really having medical problems...... She believes that her school would have offered her a contract for the next school year, but Dr. Tynes told her she would have to take care of herself to get well. Ms. Stevison testified that she has not seen a psychiatrist. She has read books that Dr. Daggett gave her and she gets on line to chat. She testified that if she needed a counselor, Dr. Daggett would refer her.

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